Constitution and By-Laws

OF THE

Bible Sabbath Association

7046

May 9, 18

Constitution and By-Laws OF THE Bible Sabbath Association

PREAMBLE

Recognizing the God of Creation as the Ruler of the universe, and obedience to His Will as fundamental to the best welfare of humanity; and,

Holding it to be self-evident that appreciation of God's Law and its bearing upon the affairs of mankind is possible only when a definite portion of our time is applied to the contemplation thereof; and,

Assured that the Creator, in His Infinite Wisdom, provided a definite day for this purpose by permanently setting apart as hallowed time the Seventh Day of each recurring week, to be observed by all men as HIS HOLY DAY; and,

Accepting the testimony of Christ that He, as He Himself said, is Lord of this Holy Day; and assured further that Christ and His Apostles kept the Seventh Day holy, and, by word as well as by example, taught all men to do likewise; and,

Realizing that the foregoing rational truths are fully substantiated by both Scripture and History and that THEIR IMPORTANCE IS WHOLLY INDEPENDENT OF ALL SECTARIAN AND DENOMINATIONAL TENETS; and,

Believing that great benefits can be accomplished by the diffusion of knowledge concerning the Bible Sabbath through proper organization to that end, as contemplated in the following Constitution and By-Laws:

We do hereby associate ourselves together for the purpose of increasing the knowledge of, and upholding the sublime truths which establish the Seventh Day of the week (Saturday) as the Sabbath Day, a sacred and vital element of the Scriptures, and as God's Holy Day, "MADE" for all mankind.

Constitution

ARTICLE 1. NAME

The Name of this Association shall be "THE BIBLE SABBATH ASSOCIATION."

ARTICLE 2. OBJECTS

Section 1. General:

To increase the knowledge of and to uphold the sublime truths which establish the Seventh Day of the week (Saturday) as the Sabbath Day, a sacred and inherent element of the Christian Religion, made, as Jesus the Christ said, for ALL mankind.

Section 2. Specific:

- (a) To increase and to SHARE our knowledge of the Seventh Day Sabbath, its origin, history, purpose, and value;
- (b) To encourage a similar study and sharing of the Seventh Day Sabbath truth among all mankind throughout the world;
- (c) To foster the observance of the Seventh Day as the Sabbath of Jehovah the Creator, and of Christ the Lord;
- (d) To devise ways and means for accomplishing these ends through the Major Organization of THE BIBLE SABBATH ASSOCIATION, representing the total Membership thereof, and through such Branches or Local

Organizations as experience shall prove to be desirable:

(e) To establish and maintain such Association so that it shall be nonsectarian and undenominational and, therefore, inherently, SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE EITHER A CHURCH OR A DENOMINATION.

ARTICLE 3. MEMBERSHIP

Section 1. Individual Membership:

Any person who approves the Objects of the Association may become a Member in accordance with the following grouping:

Membership Designation	Per An	num
Regular Members	\$ 1.00 to	8 4.99
Contributing Members	5.00	9.99
Supporting Members	10.00	24.99
Sustaining Members	25.00	49.99
Foundation Members-Group I	50.00	74.99
Foundation Members-Group I	I 75.00	99.99
Life Members \$100.00	or more d	uring
	any one	year.

Section 2. Institutional Membership:

Any Manufacturing or other Firm or Business Establishment, College, School, Sanitarium or other Organization which, through its authorized representative, declares itself to be in agreement with the Objects of the Association, may become an Institutional Member in accordance with the following classification:—Contributing Members, Supporting Members, Sustaining Members, Foun-

dation Members-Group I, Foundation Members-Group II, as of Section 1 of this Article; or a Pillar Member by contributing annually \$100.00 or any amount in excess thereof. Institutional Members, through their respective representives, shall enjoy the voting and other privileges of Individual Members.

Institutions shall not be eligible for Life Memberships.

Section 3: All receipts from Life Memberships, and such other contributions to the work of the Association as may be deemed to be better so administered, shall be invested by the Treasurer under the direction of the Board of Directors (hereinafter defined), in safe income-producing channels; the Principals thereof in no case to be amortized at a greater rate than would parallel the probable life of the contributor.

ARTICLE 4. DIRECTION OF AFFAIRS

Section 1: The affairs of the Association shall be vested in the Membership of the Major Organization, except as delegated thereby to a Board of Directors under control of the aforesaid Membership.

Section 2: The will of the Membership shall ordinarily be determined by correspondence. When ten percent, or more, of the Members

5

so request, the Officers of the Association shall place before the entire Membership any and all matters so submitted for consideration, and the sense of the majority of replies received during the FIRST THIRTY DAYS following the fixed dates of such mailed notices shall be deemed the action of the Association, except as provided under Article 8 "Amendments."

Section 3: Assemblage meetings of the Major Association may be held upon THIRTY DAYS written notice to the Membership, stating the time, place and object of the meeting. Action taken at such meeting shall not be final, however, until approved by a majority of the Membership, in accordance with the provisions of Section 2, hereof.

Section 4: Attending members shall constitute a quorum for any meeting duly announced according to the requirements of Section 3, hereof.

Section 5: Local, Sectional, and Foreign Branches of the Association are contemplated, to be organized as soon as practicable after the consummation of the Major Organization. Said Branches shall hold meetings of the Members of the Major Association under such regulations as are consistent with the aims of the Association, and with such frequency as the various Groups may elect.

Section 6: All notices of Special Meetings shall set forth the nature of the business to be transacted, this provision being applicable to all the Branch Organizations as well as to the Major Association.

Section 7: The procedure at all meetings of the Major Association, its Branches, Board, and Committees, shall be in accordance with accepted Parliamentary Practice.

Section 8: Under no circumstance shall any Official or Member use the Association or any of its Branches to further any denominational tenets other than the Constitutionally provided Objectives of the Organization.

ARTICLE 5. OFFICERS

Section 1: By Officers, in this Section, is meant those of the Major Association, as follows:

President
1st, 2nd, and 3rd Vice Presidents
Secretary
Treasurer

Members at Large of Board of Directors And such other officers as may be required to properly transact the business of the Association and Board of Directors. All nominees shall be eligible for re-election regardless of the number of consecutive terms served; and all Officers shall serve until their successors qualify.

Vacancies for interim periods to be filled as the Board of Directors may elect.

Section 2: The offices of Secretary and Treasurer may be held by one and the same person.

Assistants to the Secretary and Treasurer may be appointed by the Board of Directors, which appointments may likewise be held by one and the same person.

Section 3: The duties of the Officers shall be those ordinarily vested therein, to any of whom may be delegated by the Board of Directors other duties consistent with the aims of the Association.

Section 4: The Officers of the Association may receive such remuneration for their services as may be determined by the Association on recommendation of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE 6. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Section 1: The following affairs of the Association, and such other matters as may be so delegated by the Membership thereof, shall be handled by a Board of Directors consisting of TWELVE members: the President, the three

Vice Presidents, the Secretary, the Treasurer, and SIX Members at Large. The Officers of the Major Association shall likewise be Officers of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may transact said business by mail or assemblage.

Section 2: Notice of Board assembly shall be given in writing to the members of the Board of Directors THIRTY DAYS in advance of assemblage, stating the time, place, and nature of the business to be handled.

Section 3: A quorum of the Board for any duly announced assemblage shall consist of at least SIX MEMBERS; action taken by such meetings to be subject to confirmation by a TWO-THIRDS majority of the Board, either by acclamation or by mail expression.

Section 4: The Board of Directors may delegate such matters as it may elect to Committees conveniently located for assemblage, such Committees not necessarily to be composed of members of the Board of Directors.

Section 5: The Board of Directors shall present such reports to the entire Association Membership as shall keep it duly informed concerning the general activities, including the finances, of the Association; and shall provide for the auditing of the Association's books at the close of each fiscal year, and at

such other times as the Board may deem it advisable.

Section 6: The Board of Directors shall serve as a supervisory Body over all activities of the Major Association and its Branches: reviewing, co-ordinating, and editing all productions of the Association. No broadcasts, formal addresses, literature, or other similar productions shall go out under the Association's name or auspices, or through any of its Branches, that have not been given thoughtful consideration and improved wherever possible by the Board of Directors, or by a Committee designated by it—and so recorded and certified to by the Secretary on the transmitted copies, after approval by at least THREE-FOURTHS of the entire Board.

ARTICLE 7. DISSOLUTION

In the event of contemplated dissolution of this Association, its entire Assets shall be liquidated; out of the proceeds of which all existing Liabilities of the Association shall first be satisfied, and the entire remainder shall be invested in Bibles (complete Old and New Testaments) which shall, before dissolution, be distributed among various Institutions such as Hospitals, Prisons, Homes for the Aged, etc.; or turned over to the American Bible Society, or other similar organization as the Board may elect.

This Constitution may be amended by a TWO-THIRDS vote of the entire Membership, except as regards the declared Objects of the Association, which cannot be altered except by a FULL AND UNANIMOUS VOTE of the Members known to be living at the time of voting and who have responded to correspondence within three years immediately preceding the voting on such Amendment.

ARTICLE 9. ADOPTION OF CONSTITUTION

The foregoing Articles, with their respective Sections and Parts, were adopted as the Constitution of The Bible Sabbath Association, by the Charter Members thereof, in the First General Election as of April 9, 1945, to May 9, 1945, by more than the required two-thirds approving votes received by the Organization Committee.

By-Laws

ARTICLE 1. ELECTION OF OFFICERS

Section 1: The initial set of Officers shall be elected by the Charter Members at the first Regular Election, and shall take office immediately. Thereafter, all Officers shall be elected by the Major Association Membership at large, each Member to be entitled to one vote regardless of Membership classification. Regular Elections shall be called the FIRST (1st) DAY in October of UN-EVEN YEARS, and the duly elected Officers shall take office on the SECOND (2nd) DAY in January of EVEN YEARS.

Section 2: The Officers of the Major Association shall be elected for terms of TWO YEARS, said elections to be conducted on a single ballot at the Regular Biennial Election.

(a) By August first (1st) of uneven years, the Secretary shall distribute among the entire Membership, by mail, a Primary Election Ballot for the purpose of selecting candidates for the Regular Election. The Primary Ballot shall indicate the specific time allotted to the ballot, which shall be TWENTY-SIX (26) DAYS, and shall provide for the marking with an "X" and for the writing in of names for

each and every office that shall come up for election in the succeeding Regular Election.

- (b) The Membership shall return this Primary Ballot within the specified time limit to the Secretary, who shall count and tabulate the votes and submit a Report to the Board of Directors, which shall direct the Secretary to prepare the Regular Election Ballot in accordance with the results of the Primary Election. August twenty-sixth (26th) of uneven years shall fix the final date for the Secretary to accept Primary Election returns as having been received on time, or within the specified time allotted to the Primary Election Ballot.
- (c) The two persons receiving the greatest number of votes for any given office, shall be declared the duly nominated candidates for that office, and their two names shall appear as such on the Regular Election Ballot.
- (d) In the case of a tie vote, the persons receiving the tie vote shall be declared the duly nominated candidates for that office. In the event of a tie in the second-greatest number of votes for any given office, these, together with the person receiving the greatest number of votes, shall be declared duly nominated candidates for that office, and the names of all such persons shall appear as candidates on the Regular Election Ballot.

(e) In the unusual event that any person shall receive every vote cast for any given office, that person shall be declared to have been elected by acclamation, and his or her name shall appear on the Regular Election Ballot as having been duly so elected.

Section 4:

- (a) By September twentieth (20th) of uneven years, TEN (10) DAYS prior to the calling of the Regular Biennial Election, the Secretary shall have been instructed by the Board of Directors to prepare the Regular Election Ballot in accordance with the results of the Primary Election as provided in Section 3, (b), (c), (d), and (e) hereof; and shall at once distribute said Regular Election Ballots to every Member of the Association.
- (b) The Membership shall return this Regular Election Ballot to the Secretary who shall count the votes and tabulate the results of the Election; and the candidates receiving a plurality of votes cast and returned within THIRTY (30) DAYS after date of calling said Regular Biennial Election, shall have been duly elected.
- (c) Regular Election Ballots shall specify the time allotted thereto, shall carry the names of all candidates duly nominated, and shall provide for the marking with an "X" opposite the name of each Candidate.

October first (1st) of uneven years shall mark the date for calling Regular Biennial Elections, and October thirtieth (30th) of uneven years shall fix the final date for the Secretary to accept Regular Election returns as having been received on time, or within the specified time limit allotted to the Regular Election Ballot.

- (d) In the case of a tie vote in the Regular Election, the Board of Directors shall cast the deciding vote; and should a tie result with the Board of Directors, the President shall cast the deciding vote.
- (e) In the event that the one and same person were to be elected Secretary-Treasurer, a discrepancy in the resultant Board of Directors number would result, in which case the sitting Board of Directors shall elect from among the Primary Election list the discrepant number of Board Members.
- (f) All returned ballots shall be checked by the Board, or by a Committee delegated by the Board, who shall certify to the accuracy of the conduct of each election, after which the ballots shall be preserved in the files of the Association for at least two years, and shall be accessible to any Member of the Association who may wish to review them.

In the event of mistake or fraud, a recount or new election may be called at once.

14

(g) When the final date for receipt of ballots falls on a legal holiday, ballots received on the next succeeding Postal Service date shall be counted as on time.

ARTICLE 2. ACTION BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors shall, either by correspondence or assemblage, promptly consider all matters pertaining to the activities of the Association referred to it by any one of the Regular Officers of the Association, by any one of the Directors at Large, by any of the Sectional Branches, or by TEN PERCENT of the total Association Membership.

ARTICLE 3. STANDING COMMITTEES

It being recognized that activities along any special line of Sabbath promotion must originate with those specially interested in that particular phase of the work, rather than through unguided appointment of Committees; each Member of the Association is, therefore, urged to consider the following tabulation of topics as subjects for extended and exhaustive study by Standing Committees, to submit to the Board of Directors all suggestions they may have for service along these or other lines in which they are especi-

ally interested, and to submit articles they have or may compile, and all available printed matter on the Sabbath or any phases thereof which may be suggestive of Association activities.

- Group 1. The Sabbath as a Part of Creation:
 - a. The Sabbath as a Memorial of Creation's Completion.
 - b. Science and the Sabbath.
- Group 2. The Sabbath in the God-Ordained Laws, in the Hebrew Legislation of the Biblical Period, and Since the Dispersion:
 - a. God's Law-The Ten Commandments.
 - b. The Noahide Laws.
 - c. The Law of Moses—The Jewish Ceremonial Laws.
 - d. The Jewish Pharisaic, or Rabbinical Laws, before the Dispersion.
 - e. The Talmudic Laws.
- Group 3. The Preservation of God's Sabbath
 Throughout the Ages:
 - a. The World's Languages Prove the Universality of the Seventh Day Sabbath, and Preserve It Unchanged.
 - b. The Sabbath of Creation in Pre-Mosaic Times.
 - c. The Sabbath in Israel's History.
 - d. The Sabbath in the Customs and Teachings of Christ and His Apostles.
 - e. The Sabbath Since New Testament Times
- Group 4. Spiritual Sabbathism:
- Group 5. Practical Sabbathism:
 - a. The Sabbath as the Reminder of the Greatness and Love of God.

17

- b. The Sabbath, the God-Appointed Time for Studying the Application of the Entire Law of God to Man's Daily Problems, for Individual and Collective, Economic and Social, World Betterment.
- c. The Sabbath as Hallowed Time for Spiritual and Moral Edification.
- d. The Sabbath as a Day for Worship and Fellowship Communion.
- e. Sabbath Observance, a Testimony to the World as to Which God We Honor and Which God We Obey.
- f. Faithful Personal Observance in Accord with Christ's Example.
- g. The Sabbath as Regular Appointed Time for Surcease from Vocational Monotony and for Physical Rest.

Group 6. Opposition to God's Holy Sabbath, and How to Meet It:

- a. The Futility of Attempts to Base Sunday-Observance on the Teachings or Practices of the Bible.
- The Fallacy of the "Jewish Sabbath" Contention.
- c. The Fallacy of the "Sabbath Being Changed" Contention.
- d. The Fallacy of the "One in Seven" Theory.
- e. The Fallacy of the "Indefinite-Sabbath" Theory.
- f. The Fallacy of the "No-Sabbath" Theory.
- g. The Pagan Origin of Sunday.
- h. Pagan Sundayism Surviving in Christianity.
- i. Sundavism Surviving in Protestantism.
- j. The Inadequacy and Failure of Sundayism in Christianity.
- k. Sunday Religious Legislation, Past and Present.

Group 7. The Restoration of the Observance of God's Holy Day:

- a. Radio Broadcasts.
- b. Sabbath Books and Tracts.
- c. Pulpit and Platform Sabbath Presentation.
- d. Sabbath School Helps.
- e. The Training of Sabbath-Keepers, for Personal Contact and Field Work.
- f. Official Periodical of the Bible Sabbath Association.
- g. Free Distribution of Sabbath Literature.
- h. Selling Sabbath Publications.
- Vocations Normally Open to Sabbath-Keepers.
- j. The Training of Sabbath-Keepers for Independent Vocational or Business Enterprises.
- k. Development of Projects for Employing Sabbath-Keepers.

ARTICLE 4. APPOINTMENT OF COMMITTEES

Section 1: Except as provided in Article 6, Section 4, of the Constitution, all Committees shall be appointed by the President from among the Association Membership as need develops.

Section 2: Special and Temporary Committees shall report their findings to the President, who shall have authority to dissolve said Committees when their work is completed, when deadlocks develop, or when they ask to be dissolved.

Section 3: Standing Committees shall report their findings to the Board of Directors, which Body shall have authority to dissolve Standing Committees by a majority assenting vote of the Board.

Vacancies in Standing Committees shall be filled by Presidential appointment.

ARTICLE 5. SECTIONAL BRANCHES

Section 1: Sectional Branches, with respect to geographical boundaries, shall comprise the respective States and Territories of the United States of America; the respective Provinces of the Dominion of Canada; and all Countries having definite territorial boundaries under their respective Governments. Outside of the United States of America and its Territories and the Dominion of Canada, Sectional Branches shall be of a centralized nature which may establish branches within their own territorial limits operating under the supervision of the respective Centralized Sectional Branches.

Section 2: Said Sectional Branches, when organized, shall establish themselves as working units contributing their efforts toward the advancement and success of the Association as a whole under the supervision of the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE 6. AMENDMENTS

These By-Laws may be amended only by a majority vote of the entire Association Membership.

ARTICLE 7. ADOPTION OF BY-LAWS

The foregoing Articles, with their respective Sections and Parts, were adopted as the By-Laws of The Bible Sabbath Association, by the Charter Members thereof, in the First General Election as of April 9, 1945, to May 9, 1945, by more than the required two-thirds approving votes received by the Organization Committee.

THE BIBLE SABBATH ASSOCIATION

1. ITS INCEPTION:

The widespread and growing realization of man's need for the sacred Sabbath of Scripture with its immeasurable benefits; and the obvious necessity, before its restoration can become general, for its promulgation wholly apart from other religious issues.

2. ITS PROGRAM:

To bring together into one strong organization all believers in the Bible Sabbath, regardless of sect, creed, or denomination, for the sole purpose of spreading knowledge of, belief in, and observance of God's only Holy Day.

3. ITS BASIS:

Such challenging facts as these concerning the Biblical seventh-day Sabbath—

- a. Instituted by Jehovah at the very beginning of human, history for the good of all mankind, and hence in no sense racial or sectarian.
- b. The memorial Sabbath of creation—uninterruptedly observed by followers of the One God from the very morning of man's creation to the present day.
- c. Its universality irrevocably established by the exclusive designation of the last day of the week as "Sabbath." or "Rest Day." in over one hundred of the world's leading languages, proving that it was the only weekly Sabbath when languages were first formulated.
- d. The keystone commandment of the Decalogue, the most perfect of all codes of conduct, and God's basic WILL for mankind—which we continually pray may 'be done on earth as in heaven.'
- e. The ONLY commandment rejected by Christians—the other nine being also often disobeyed, but none of them actually repudiated as is the Sabbath commandment.

- f. The one commandment of God's law legislated against by mankind, through statutes designed to enforce rest on Sunday, instead of on the sacred seventh day of Scripture.
- g. The only weekly Sabbath of Christ, of the Apostles, and of the New Testament.

4. ITS AIMS:

Creation of the very highest possible ideals and practices in individual and group life-

- a. By emphasizing the HISTORICAL FACTS that both individual ideals and group behavior advance or degrade as reverence for the Bible and obedience to God's law rise or fall.
- b. By promoting REVERENCE FOR THE SCRIP-TURES, sincere reverence being impossible as long as Scriptural Sabbathism is rejected.
- c. By stressing RESPECT FOR GOD'S LAW, true respect being impossible while God's Sabbath commandment is repudiated by Sunday observance and no-Sabbathism.
- d. By encouraging as ONE USE OF THE SABBATH, as evidently intended, the study of the application to man's numerous problems of all the Ten Commandments, since only thereby can their real meaning be grasped, their perfection and importance appreciated, their obedience consummated, and individual ideals and collective civilization attain their intended lofty goals.

5. ITS METHODS:

A carefully balanced use of God's Word and other books, pamphlets, periodicals, platform, pulpit, radio broadcasts, personal work, and co-operation in promoting Sabbath-observing industries.

6. ITS STANDARDS:

Tolerance in all its activities; accuracy and thoroughness in its efforts; attractiveness in its products; complete accountability for all funds and entrusted properties;

periodical reports, investigations, and audits in such detail and with such frequency as shall insure compliance with these and other right principles.

7. ITS INVITATION:

Every believer in the Biblical seventh-day Sabbath, whether impelled by-

- a. Personal desire to conform to God's will in Sab-bath keeping;
- b. Its unmistakable importance to the advancement of Christian civilization; or by
- c. The obvious need for ideal Christlike observance of God's Holy Day-

is invited to join the Association, to have a voice in its procedures, to take part in its great work, and to contribute to its support as a most profitable investment in world-betterment—and to pass on to others the facts concerning this Association.

Copies of this booklet, and other printed matter, and further information may be procured by addressing THE BIBLE SABBATH ASSOCIATION, P. O. Box 3, Pomona Park, Putnam County, Fla., U.S.A. or 1746 Humboldt Blvd. (B), Chicago 47, Ill., U.S.A.